
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda Page 1 of 2  

MORROW COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA 

Wednesday, August 3, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 

110 N. Court St., Heppner, Oregon 

See Zoom Meeting Info Below 

AMENDED 

 

1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance - 9:00 a.m. 

2. City/Citizen Comments: Individuals may address the Board on issues not on the agenda 

3. Open Agenda: The Board may introduce subjects not already on the agenda 

4. Consent Calendar 

a. Approve Accounts Payable and Payroll Payables 

b. Minutes: July 27, 2022 Board of Commissioners Meeting 

c. Minutes: July 27, 2022 Executive Session 

d. Minutes: July 27, 2022 Board of Commissioners Work Session 

e. Wood Hill Homes Replat 

f. Fifth Amendment to Oregon Health Authority 2021-2023 IGA for the Financeing 

of Public Health Services 

g. Discontinue additional distribution of Morrow County property taxes to the two 

County School Funds and Fair  

5. Business Items 

a. Road Committee Member Appointments 

6. Department Reports 

a. Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report 

b. Assessor Department Report 

7. Commissioner Liaison Reports 

8. Correspondence 

a. Senator Merkley Announcement 

b. Press Release Regarding Federal Funding For Water Nitrate Projects 

c. Nitrates in the Water Emergency – Update from Public Health 

d. Order from EFSC Appointing Morrow County Board of Commissioners as Special 

Advisory Group for Echo Solar Project 

e. Letter from Morrow County Health District regarding the Morrow County 

Ambulance Service Area Plan. 

9. Commissioner Reports 

10. Signing of documents 

11. Executive Session: Pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(g) – under ORS 192.660(2)(g): “To 

consider preliminary negotiations involving matters of trade or commerce in which the 

governing body is in competition with governing bodies” 

12. Adjournment 

 
Agendas are available every Friday on our website (www.co.morrow.or.us/boc under 

“Upcoming Events”). Meeting Packets can also be found the following Monday. 

 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 

hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 

least 48 hours before the meeting to Roberta Lutcher at (541) 676-5613. 

http://www.co.morrow.or.us/boc


Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda Page 2 of 2  

Pursuant to ORS 192.640, this agenda includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 

considered at the meeting; however, the Board may consider additional subjects as well. This 

meeting is open to the public and interested citizens are invited to attend. Executive sessions are 

closed to the public; however, with few exceptions and under specific guidelines, are open to the 

media. The Board may recess for lunch depending on the anticipated length of the meeting and 

the topics on the agenda. If you have anything that needs to be on the agenda, please notify the 

Board office before noon of the preceding Friday. If something urgent comes up after this 

publication deadline, please notify the office as soon as possible. If you have any questions about 

items listed on the agenda, please contact Darrell J. Green, Administrator at (541) 676-2529. 

 
Zoom Meeting Information 

 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546 PASSWORD: 97836 Meeting ID: 541-676-2546 
 

Zoom Call-In Numbers for Audio Only: 

• 1-346-248-7799, Meeting ID:  541 676 2546# 

• 1-669-900-6833, Meeting ID:  541 676 2546# 

• 1-312-626-6799, Meeting ID: 541-676-2546# 

• 1-929-436-2866, Meeting ID: 541-676-2546# 

• 1-253-215-8782, Meeting ID: 541-676-2546# 

• 1-301-715-8592, Meeting ID: 541-676-2546# 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546


 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  1 | 7 

 

Morrow County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes 
July 27, 2022 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 
Heppner, OR  97836 

 
Present In-Person 
Chair Jim Doherty 
Commissioner Melissa Lindsay 
Commissioner Don Russell 
Karen Wolff, Board of Commissioner Staff 
 
Call to Order, Pledge of Allegiance & Roll Call:  9:06 a.m. 

Chair Doherty temporarily turned the meeting over to Commissioner Lindsay. 
 
City and Citizen Comments:   
Vice-Chair Lindsay asked for any comments from those attending by Zoom. None. 
 
Vice-Chair Lindsay asked for any comments from those attending in person. 
John Murray, Heppner: Directed his question to Commissioner Russell.  He asked for a copy of a letter 
that Commissioner Russell wrote to OHA (Oregon Health Authority) in support of Boardman Fire.  
Commissioner Russell said Mr. Murray could request it from OHA.  Mr. Murray said there is a Public 
Records request in to OHA, but asked if Commissioner Russell could help expedite the process.  
Commissioner Russell said that he does not keep copies of letters that he writes in support of various 
businesses.  Commissioner Lindsay asked if it was on County Letterhead.  Commissioner Russell said yes.  
Commissioner Lindsay requested a copy as well. 
 
Open Agenda: Chair Doherty nothing. Commissioner Russell nothing.  Vice-Chair Lindsay nothing. 
 
Consent Calendar: 
Chair Doherty requested to move the APs to Business Items. 
Chair Doherty requested to move the Letter of Support to Business Items. 
 
Chair Doherty moved to approve the following items on the Consent Calendar 

- Payroll Payables 
- Minutes of July 20, 2022 Board of Commissioners Meeting 
- Contract with Points Consulting o conduct Goal 9 economic Development and Employment Lands 

work for the Cities of Ione, Lexington and Heppner 
- Extension of OHA IGA #170129 to December 31, 2022 
- Property Tax Refund for Lumen Technologies, Inc. 

Commissioner Russell seconded.  Unanimous approval. 
 
Business Items: 
APs 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  2 | 7 

 

Chair Doherty suggests the final payout to a former employee be postponed until all county property 
has been received from the employee.  Follow protocol and past practice. This is in regard to a County 
owned laptop.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Chair Doherty moved to approve the APs with the exception of the one payout to a former employee.  
Vice-Chair Lindsay seconded.  
 
Commissioner Russell asked if this is the typical process for this type of situation.  Lindsay Grogan, 
Human Resources Director (by Zoom) said yes.  It is typical to withhold final payment until all property 
has been returned.  In this situation the challenge is the physical distance between us.  This employee 
was working remotely. 
 
 Unanimous approval. 
 
Letter of Support 
Chair Doherty supports helping our local businesses.  He is concerned about the language around people 
with physical limitations.  If that language is good, He is good. Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director 
provided some background information.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Chair Doherty moved to accept and sign the Letter of Support for the City of Boardman TGM 
(Transportation and Growth Management) Grant application.  Commissioner Russell seconded.  
Unanimous approval. 
 
Vice-Chair Lindsay turned the meeting back to Chair Doherty. 
 
Auditor’s Report 
Kevin Ince, Finance Director 
Cameron Anderson, Barnett & Moro, P.C. (by Zoom) 
 
Mr. Ince introduced Mr. Anderson of Barnett & Moro, P.C. 
 
Mr. Anderson reviewed the Morrow County, Oregon Financial Statements and Independent Auditors’ 
Report dated June 30, 2021.  He specifically pointed out the Opinions on page 7.  Mr. Anderson also 
reviewed other pertinent information within the document. Discussion ensued. 
 
Mr. Anderson stated that we did not make the deadline of December 31, 2021 for completing the audit.  
There have been discussions with the Board of Commissioners and the new Finance Director regarding 
how to prevent this from happening again. Discussion ensued.  It was pointed out that the audit was 
completed prior to Mr. Ince becoming Finance Director. 
 
Commissioner Russell commented this is a ‘clean audit’ with no exceptions.  That is important in the 
accounting world. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay asked if there was a Management Letter.  Mr. Anderson said there is not one this 
year since it is so late. 
 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  3 | 7 

 

Commissioner Russell moved to accept the audit by Barnett and Moro.  Chair Doherty seconded.  
Unanimous approval. 
 
 
Audit Engagement Letter 
Kevin Ince, Finance Director 
Cameron Anderson, Barnett & Moro, P.C. (by Zoom) 
 
Mr. Ince said he had no particular comments. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay asked if language has been added about the chain for requesting information in 
the future. Mr. Ince said no.  Mr. Anderson said that in the past the questions usually went through the 
County Administrator.  Mr. Anderson reviewed page 4 of the letter which this year includes 
“management and the board of commissioners” regarding internal control related matters. 
Commissioners were added to this sentence.  Commissioner Lindsay is glad to see this change.  The past 
audit was delayed because the auditors were waiting for information from Morrow County.  The 
auditors were following the Engagement Letter which did not include commissioners in the 
communication. This new language will allow commissioners to be a part of the communications. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay would like to have a commissioner involved in the exit interview in the future. 
Mr. Anderson agreed. 
 
Mr. Ince explained that the Fiscal Year ending 2021 was the last year of the three year engagement RFP 
(Request For Proposals).  Mr. Ince recommends we engage Barnett & Moro for one (1) year and then 
send out and RFP the following year. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay moved to approve and sign the Audit Engagement Letter with Barnett & Moro, 
P.C. for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.  Commissioner Russell seconded. 
 
Commissioner Russell said the letter has two signature lines.  He would like to have the Chair and the 
Finance Director sign the letter.  Commissioner Lindsay approved of the amendment. 
 
Unanimous approval. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay brought up Christa Wolfe, Wolfe Consulting, LLC and her knowledge of Open.Gov. 
She would like the Commissioners to weigh in on whether to continue to use Christa’s services.  
Commissioner Russell agreed.  Chair Doherty agreed.  Commissioner Lindsay agreed.  Consensus 
approval to continue to use Christa Wolfe, Wolfe Consulting, LLC for finance consulting services. 
 
Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council (EFSC) Letter 
Tamar Mabbott, Planning Director 
 
Ms. Mabbott said this letter regarding the Echo Solar Project is pretty pro forma for the county to 
submit to EFSC. OAR 345-015-0120 identifies standards for a project and Morrow County has provided 
comment on those standards. 
 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  4 | 7 

 

Commissioner Russell moved to approve and have all three Commissioners sign the comment letter to 
Oregon EFSC regarding Echo Solar Project.  Commissioner Lindsay seconded.  Unanimous approval. 
 
Ms. Mabbott added that she is tracking that this is the first application under the new State Goal 3 rules.  
 
Commissioner Lindsay said the lights at Wheatridge (Wind Project) are on all the time and there is no 
rain.  Mike Gorman, Assessor will reengage with them later today. 
 
Columbia Development Association (CDA) 
Commissioner Doherty asked Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director for her input on a recent CDA meeting 
and discussion. 
 
Ms. Mabbott said there is an MOA (Memorandum of Agreement) that has to be signed before the Army 
can turn over the property. At the end of yesterday’s meeting it was agreed to develop and amended 
the current MOA. 
 
Several irrigators showed up at the meeting and expressed concern.  They asked the entities to not 
develop the water rights on the property, which are senior to their water rights.  This would severely 
impact farms.  The CDA has developed a technical work group to review and develop a policy. 
 
Ms. Mabbott said the MOA is specific about best business practices and budget specifics will need to be 
reviewed.  Kevin Ince, Finance Director will be looped in on this. 
 
Ms. Mabbott advised we still don’t know how roads or infrastructure will be managed. 
 
Ms. Mabbott commented that there are two different audits out there with very different values of the 
land. 
 
Ms. Mabbott stressed there are some environmental issues that are coming up and should be addressed 
before the transfer. 
 
Commissioner Russell said the water rights out there are not adequate for industrial development.  
Other water access will need to be figured out.  He said he would not hold up the transfer of the 
property to figure water out. It will depend on what business goes in out there. 
 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Foreclosed Property 
Mike Gorman, Assessor 
 
Mr. Gorman explained that he has had three (3) different inquiries about county owned foreclosed 
property.  One (1) in Ione, and two (2) in Irrigon.  He is asking the Commissioners for direction on these 
three (3) properties. 
 
Ione former service station.  Mr. Gorman said he has talked to DEQ (Department of Environmental 
Quality) about an assessment of the underground tanks.  Commissioner Lindsay said there is a great deal 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  5 | 7 

 

of interest in the property in the Ione community. Commissioner Russell said the tanks may have been 
brought up to current standards through a past grant program.  Mr. Gorman will request a letter of No 
Further Action from DEQ. 
 
Commissioner Russell asked about another Ione property on the list. It is very small.  Mr. Gorman said it 
may not be really valuable and may not have to go to auction, however, that is not Mr. Gorman’s 
decision. 
 
Ms. Wolff asked about the Cain Lane properties.  Mr. Gorman clarified these Cain Lane issues are 
portions of the road. Mr. Gorman suggested the county could come up with a solution for theses. 
 
Commissioner Russell said he thought the Irrigon properties should be put up for auction.  Mr. Gorman 
agreed, however, he does not have time to manage the process.  Commissioner Lindsay asked what 
other counties do about managing foreclosed properties.  Mr. Gorman said some have Property 
Managers, some have the County Administrator do it.  They all do it differently. 
 
Don moved to put the two (2) Irrigon lots that have had inquiries, Account 2979 and Account 8579, up 
for public auction and figure out how to get this completed. Commissioner Lindsay seconded. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding how to handle all foreclosed properties.  Mr. Gorman said he would help 
the Commissioners with these two lots, but something else will need to be figured out for future sales.   
 
Unanimous. 
 
Commissioner Russell asked Mr. Gorman to let the interested person about the small Ione lot to get the 
ball rolling. He suggested the value of the property may be beneath the auction requirement. Send a 
notice adjacent land owners.  Mr. Gorman will provide a list of adjacent land owners and then the Board 
of Commissioners can proceed. 
 
Department Reports: 
Road Report 
Commissioner Russell reported that Eric Imes, Public Works Director is under the weather and not 
present.  Commissioners reviewed the written report. 
 
Loop 
Katie Imes, Transit Manager (by Zoom) 
 
Ms. Imes reviewed the written report she submitted.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Human Resources 
Lindsay Grogan, Human Resources Director (by Zoom) 
 
Ms. Grogan reviewed the written report she submitted. Discussion ensued. 
 
Commissioner Liaison Reports: 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  6 | 7 

 

Commissioner Lindsay explained this is a new item.  The intent is to give the Commissioners and 
opportunity to report. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay reported that she has been signing small contracts for the Fair for judges.  $250 
or less. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay said we will need to do a work session for the Fair $1M award. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay advised that said the maintenance on the 21 Road has grown more than 
anticipated.  This will be brought back for discussion. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay reported that CCS (Community Counseling Solutions) has moved towards 
purchasing Columbia River Ranch. Demand on CCS continues to grow. 
 
Correspondence: 
Fair State Grant Award  
 
OAPA Annual Conference Notice 
Tamra Mabbott, Planning Director advised that she is the co-chair for this conference.  She is asking if 
the county wants to be a sponsor.  This is a soft ask.  Commissioners asked for a formal ask and 
explanation at a future meeting. 
 
GEODC invoice for Broadband Action Team Consultant. 
  
Commissioner Reports: 
Commissioner Russell 
Commissioner Russell explained that he has met with all Department Directors under his Liaison 
umbrella. 
 
There are some issues with IT (Information Technologies) processes that go back to the CSEPP (Chemical 
Stockpile Emergency Preparedness Program) program.  IT is working on it. 
 
Tony Clement, General Maintenance Supervisor is working with City of Heppner regarding an oil tank 
that is about to be pulled out of the ground at the museum/library building. 
 
Commissioner Russell reported he has talked to Public Works as their Liaison, but not Roads, which is 
not under his Liaison umbrella. 
 
Commissioner Lindsay 
Nothing to report. 
 
Adjourn 10:50 a.m. 
 
Executive Session at 10:55 a.m.  The Board of Commissioners do not expect to come back to make 
decisions. 
 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2  P a g e  7 | 7 

 

 
 
 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  E x e c u t i v e  S e s s i o n  M i n u t e s  
J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2 P a g e  1 | 1 

 

Morrow County Board of Commissioners Executive Session Meeting Minutes 

July 27, 2022 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 

Heppner, Oregon 
 

Present In-Person 
Chair Jim Doherty 

Commissioner Melissa Lindsay 

Commissioner Don Russell 

Mike Gorman, Assessor 

 

The Zoom meeting was not set up for the Executive Session.  This was an oversight. 

 

11:00 a.m. 

 

Mr. Gorman handed out a SIP (Strategic Investment Program) overview. 

 

It was noted that the media was not present at the Executive Session.  The error with setting up 

the Zoom meeting was brought forward. 

 

Chair Doherty offered to go over the SIP overview document at a public session since it was 

noted that the media was not present and the special zoom capability wasn’t offered to the media.  

 

Chair Doherty adjourned the Executive Session and asked to reschedule it for next week for 

proper notice and Zoom capability. 11:32 a.m. 

 
 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  W o r k  S e s s i o n     

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2 P a g e  1 | 2 

 

Morrow County Board of Commissioners Work Session Meeting Minutes 

July 27, 2022 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 

Heppner, Oregon 
 

Present In-Person 
Chair Jim Doherty 

Commissioner Melissa Lindsay 

Commissioner Don Russell 

Jaylene Papineau, Treasurer 

Kevin Ince, Finance Director 

Mike Gorman, Assessor 

 

11:30 a.m. 

Technical difficulties with Zoom delayed the actual beginning of the meeting. 

 

Start 11:41 a.m. 

 

Tax Distribution Processes Discussion 

Ms. Papineau handed out several documents. 

- Talking points 

- 21-22 Property Tax Allocation – Morrow County 

- Morrow County Distribution Schedule by District and by year 

- A couple of pages from the Morrow County Budget 2021-2022 

 

Ms. Papineau explained that in April Commissioner Lindsay asked some questions about the Tax 

Distributions.  That lead to more questions about the subject and some research into applicable ORS’s and 

Resolutions.  This resulted in even more questions.  Ms. Papineau contacted the previous Treasurer, 

Gayle Gutierrez, and her predecessor, Marilyn Childers for background information. She also reached out 

to other counties. 

 

The real question is about distributions to the Fair and a couple of School Fund distributions.  They were 

unusual amounts, which caused the first questions.  Unfortunately, Ms. Papineau has not been able to find 

the original source of these distributions.  It has simply been this way for many years. Ms. Papineau 

believes it was a previous Board decision. (At that time it was the County Court.)  It does not appear to be 

statute. 

 

Ms. Papineau wants to be sure our processes are transparent. 

 

Discussion ensued. 

 

Chair Doherty asked Ms. Papineau if she had a recommendation. 

 

Ms. Papineau has discussed this subject with the Finance Director, Mr. Ince.  Regardless of the decision 

of the Commissioners, there will need to be a Resolution. 

 

Mr. Ince said that if the Board wants to continue the allocation, that can be done.  Without and ORS 

(Oregon Revised Statute) or Resolution, he  recommends discontinuing. 



 

M o r r o w  C o u n t y  B o a r d  o f  C o m m i s s i o n e r s  W o r k  S e s s i o n     

J u l y  2 7 ,  2 0 2 2 P a g e  2 | 2 

 

 

Ms. Papineau said she needs a decision by August 3, 2022 because that is her deadline for Tax Turnover. 

 

Chair Doherty said he would like to leave it to the Commissioner liaison and the Treasurer to come up 

with a recommendation and come back next week with a Resolution.  Chair Doherty said he would be OK 

with having Ms. Papineau handle it.  Commissioner Russell said he is to. 

 

No decision other than all Commissioners concur that this is a problem the Treasurer is facing. 

 

Ms. Papineau said transparency is her concern. 

 

All agreed. 

 

Commissioner Lindsay thanked Ms. Papineau for being open to questions and the good communication. 

 

Adjourn 12:02 pm 

 





























































































































 

  
Pioneer Memorial 
Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

Pioneer Memorial 
Home Health & 

Hospice 

Pioneer Memorial 
Clinic 

Irrigon Medical 
Clinic 

Ione Community 
Clinic 

Morrow County 
Ambulance 

P – (541) 676-9133 P – (541) 676-2946 P – (541) 676-5504  P – (541) 922-5880 P – (541) 422-7128 P – (541) 676-9133 
F – (541) 676-2901 F – (541) 676-9017 F – (541) 676-9025  F – (541) 922-5881 F – (541) 422-7145 F – (541) 676-2901 
TDD – (541) 676-2908      

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

 

 
07-30-22 
 
Morrow County Board of Commissioners 
Bartholomew Building 
110 N. Court Street 
Heppner, OR 97836 
 
Dear Morrow County Commissioners, 
 
I respectfully request that this letter and the attached documents be placed in the public meeting packet for 
the August 3, 2022 Board of Commissioners meeting. 
 
I received the attached ambulance licensing application from the Oregon Health Authority under a public 
records request.  I have several concerns that I need to bring to your attention. 
 

1. In reading Commissioner Russell’s letter, which was submitted as part of Boardman Fire Rescue 
District’s (BFRD’s) licensing application on Morrow County letterhead, it appears to me that 
Commissioner Russell is speaking on behalf of the Morrow County Commissioners.  The Morrow 
County Board of Commissioners met on May 18, 2022 to review BFRD’s request to the Morrow County 
Commissioners for a letter supporting their licensing application.  The Board of Commissioners did not 
vote to approve this request.   

2. Chief Hughes from Boardman Fire Rescue District (BFRD) and Commissioner Russell both state in their 
letters that Morrow County does not have an ASA Plan that has been adopted by the commissioners in 
place.  This is incorrect.  I have attached the ASA Plan Certification signed by Commissioners Russell, 
Doherty, and Lindsay on April 28, 2021 as well as the Oregon Health Authority’s (OHA’s) approval of 
that plan on March 24, 2022. 

I understand that there is an argument being made that because the Morrow County ASA Plan was 
modified in respond to a request from OHA, the plan required re-approval by the Morrow County 
Commissioners.  This is for the Morrow County Commissioners to decide, however, those changes 
were required by OHA and were submitted to OHA by the Morrow County Administrator acting on 
behalf of Morrow County.  If the plan requires re-approval, that should be initiated from within the 
County’s administration.   

In the event that the current plan requires re-approval by the Commissioners, OAR 333-260-0020 
dictates that Morrow County shall revert to the last approved ASA Plan (the version of the plan which 
does not have the OHA-required amendments).   

In any case, Morrow County does have and is operating under an Ambulance Service Area Plan lawfully 
approved by the current Morrow County Commissioners. 



 

  
Pioneer Memorial 
Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

Pioneer Memorial 
Home Health & 

Hospice 

Pioneer Memorial 
Clinic 

Irrigon Medical 
Clinic 

Ione Community 
Clinic 

Morrow County 
Ambulance 

P – (541) 676-9133 P – (541) 676-2946 P – (541) 676-5504  P – (541) 922-5880 P – (541) 422-7128 P – (541) 676-9133 
F – (541) 676-2901 F – (541) 676-9017 F – (541) 676-9025  F – (541) 922-5881 F – (541) 422-7145 F – (541) 676-2901 
TDD – (541) 676-2908      

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

 

 

3. Commissioner Russell’s letter contains the following statements, which I feel the need to address: 

a. “Boardman Fire has demonstrated the need for a second staffed ambulance in its response 
area, as well as, the potential need in the Irrigon response area…” 

During the Board of Commissioners meeting on May 18, 2022, the issue of “documented need” 
was broached.  On behalf of Morrow County Health District, I publicly requested the criteria by 
which the Commissioners would determine “documented need.”  I have not received that 
criteria and do not know which criteria Commissioner Russell used in his determination.  

b. “When Boardman Fire receives its ambulance transport license, the ASA Plan will then be 
reviewed, adjusted as necessary, and then sent to OHA for review and approval before it is 
adopted by Morrow County.” 

According to Morrow County Ordinance MC-C-2-98 and the Morrow County ASA Plan (defined 
as an ordinance on page 6 of the attached ASA Plan), the Morrow County EMS Advisory 
Committee has a role in reviewing requests for changes to the ASA Plan, including the addition 
of service providers.  On April 27, 2022, the EMS Advisory Committee issued a determination 
denying BFRD’s request to amend the ASA Plan finding that in addition to creating a public 
safety risk, the overriding reasons for BFRD’s requested amendments were funding-based 
rather than safety-based.  On July 26, 2022, the EMS Advisory Committee issued another letter 
to BFRD concerning their continued non-compliance with the legally adopted ASA Plan.  As of 
the time this letter is being written, Boardman Fire Rescue District remains out of compliance 
with the Morrow County ASA Plan, a legally adopted Morrow County Ordinance. 

 

My hope is that the Morrow County Commissioners will take this information into consideration when making 
any decisions pertaining to the Morrow County Ambulance Service Area Plan.  Morrow County Health 
District’s EMS personnel have been saving lives in Morrow County since the District’s inception in 1995.  We 
have the experience and the organizational structure necessary to provide a well-coordinated and effective 
EMS system in Morrow County and should be allowed to continue to do so unimpeded by local politics. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
Emily Roberts 
Chief Executive Officer 



2022-0665 001 07/27/2022



2022-0665 002 07/27/2022



2022-0665 003 07/27/2022



2022-0665 004 07/27/2022



2022-0665 005 07/27/2022



2022-0665 006 07/27/2022





Page 1 of 1 

March 24, 2022 

Nazario Rivera 
Director of Public Health 
Morrow County Health Department 
110 N. Court St. 
Heppner, OR 97836 

Dear Mr. Rivera, 

The Oregon Health Authority, Emergency Medical Services and Trauma Systems Program 
(Authority) is responsible for ambulance service area plan review in the State of Oregon (ORS 
682.204 to 682.991; OAR 333, Divisions 260, 255 and 265). The following information outlines 
the findings generated after an ambulance service area plan review.  

The Authority finds Morrow County’s Ambulance Service Area Plan complies with OAR 333-
260-0000 through 333-260-0070. The Authority is pleased to approve Morrow County’s
Ambulance Service Area Plan.

The report is categorized into two sections which include Further Development Required and 
Recommendations. The county does not need to address the comments in the Recommendations 
section, but it is encouraged for a stronger ASA plan.  

FURTHER DEVELOPMENT REQUIRED 

None. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
None. 

Morrow County’s Ambulance Service Area Plan will ensure that the residents of and visitors to 
the county will have access to efficient and effective prehospital emergency medical care and 
ambulance service.  

Thank you, 

Elizabeth Heckathorn 
Deputy Director, EMS & Trauma Systems  
Oregon Health Authority, Public Health Division 
elizabeth.e.heckathorn@state.or.us 

cc: Morrow County Ambulance Service Area Advisory Committee

PUBLIC HEALTH DIVISION 
EMS and Trauma Systems  

Kate Brown, Governor 

800 NE Oregon Street, Suite 305 
Portland, OR, 97232-2162 

Office: 971-673-0520 
Fax: 971-673-0555 

www.healthoregon.org/ems 

mailto:elizabeth.e.heckathorn@state.or.us


   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 MORROW COUNTY 

 

 AMBULANCE SERVICE AREA PLAN 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 1 

 Morrow County Ambulance Service Area Plan 

 

 Table of Contents 

 

Table of Contents ......................................................................................................................... Page 1 

 

Definitions  ................................................................................................................................... Page 3 

 

Overview of Morrow County  ...................................................................................................... Page 7 

 

Boundaries  ................................................................................................................................... Page 8 

 

ASA Alternatives ......................................................................................................................... Page 9 

 

Systems Elements 

  

Pre-Arranged Non-Emergency Transfer………………………………………………Page 9 

 

 Times ................................................................................................................................ Page 9 

 

 Level of Care .................................................................................................................... Page 9 

 

 Personnel ........................................................................................................................ Page 10 

 

 Medical Supervision ...................................................................................................... Page 11 

 

 Patient Care Equipment ................................................................................................. Page 12 

 

 Vehicles .......................................................................................................................... Page 12 

 

 Training .......................................................................................................................... Page 12 

 

 Quality Assurance .......................................................................................................... Page 13 

 

Coordination 

 

 Administration of the Plan ............................................................................................. Page 18 

 

 Complaint Review Process ............................................................................................ Page 18 

 

 Mutual Aid Agreement .................................................................................................. Page 19 

 

 Disaster Response .......................................................................................................... Page 19 



 

 

 

 2 

 

Emergency Communications ..................................................................................................... Page 22 

 

Provider Selection ...................................................................................................................... Page 25 

 

Mass Casualty Incident Plan ...................................................................................................... Page 29 

 

Appendices 

 

 ASA Map With Response Time Zones .................................................................................. #1 

 

 9-1-1 Map ................................................................................................................................ #2 

 

 Incorporated City Maps .......................................................................................................... #3 

 

 Fire District Boundaries Maps ................................................................................................ #4 

 

 Intergovernmental Agreements............................................................................................... #5 

 

 Mutual Aid Agreement (Example) ......................................................................................... #6 

 

 Mass Casualty Incident Management Plan Approval Letter .................................................. #7 

 

 Ambulance Inspection Forms ................................................................................................. #8 

 

 Morrow County EMS Ordinance ........................................................................................... #9 

 

 



 

 

 

 3 

DEFINITIONS 

 

1. “Ambulance” means any privately or publicly owned motor vehicle, aircraft, or marine craft 

operated by a Division-licensed ambulance service and that is regularly provided or offered 

to be provided for the emergency and non-emergency transportation of persons suffering 

from illness, injury or disability. 

 

2. “Ambulance Service” means any individual, partnership, corporation, association, 

governmental agency or other entity that holds a Division-issued ambulance service license 

to provide emergency and non-emergency care and transportation to sick, injured or 

disabled persons. 

 

3. “Ambulance Service Area (ASA)” means a geographic area which is served by one 

ambulance service provider, and may include all or a portion of a county, or all or portions 

of two or more contiguous counties. 

 

4.  “Ambulance Service Plan (Plan)” means a written document, which outlines a process for 

establishing a county emergency medical services system. A plan addresses the need for and 

coordination of ambulance services by establishing ambulance service areas for the entire 

county and by meeting the other requirements of these rules. Approval of a plan shall not 

depend upon whether it maintains an existing system of providers or changes the system. 

For example, a plan may substitute franchising for an open-market system. 

 

5. “Ambulance Service Provider” means a licensed ambulance service that responds to 9-1-1 

dispatched calls or provides pre-arranged non-emergency transfers or emergency or non-

emergency inter-facility transfers. 

 

6. “County Government or County Governing Body (County)” means a Board of County 

Commissioners or a County Court. 

 

7. “Communication System” means two-way radio communications between ambulances, 

dispatchers, hospitals and other agencies as needed.  A two-channel multi-frequency 

capacity is minimally required.  

 

8.  “Division” means the Public Health Division, Oregon Health Authority. 

   

9. “Effective provision of ambulance services” means ambulance services provided in 

compliance with the county ambulance service plan provisions for boundaries, coordination 

and system elements. 

 

10. “Efficient provision of ambulance services” means effective ambulance services provided in 

compliance with the county ambulance service plan provisions for provider selection.   

 



 

 

 

 4 

11. “Emergency” means any non-hospital occurrence or situation involving illness, injury or 

disability requiring immediate medical or psychiatric services, wherein delay in the 

provision of such services is likely to aggravate the condition and endanger personal health 

or safety.  

 

12. “Emergency Medical Service (EMS)” means those pre-hospital functions and services 

whose purpose is to prepare for and respond to medical emergencies, including rescue and 

ambulance services, patient care, communications and evaluation. 

 

13. “EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee” means a ten (10) person committee chosen 

by the Board to ensure ASA Plan compliance. 

 

14. “Emergency Medical Technician Basic (EMT B)”" means a person certified by the Division 

as defined in OAR 333-265-0000(8). 

 

15. “Emergency Medical Technician Intermediate (EMT I)” means a person certified by the 

Division as defined in OAR 333-265-0000(9).  

 

16. “Emergency Medical Technician Paramedic (EMT P)” means a person certified by the 

Division as defined in OAE 333-265-0000(10). 

 

17. “First Responder” means a person who has successfully completed a first responder training 

course approved by the Division as defined in OAR 847-35-0001(7) 

 

18. “Health Officer” means the Morrow County Health Officer.  

 

19. “License” means the document issued by the Division to the owner of an ambulance when 

the vehicle is found to be in compliance with ORS 682.015 to 682.991 and Administrative 

Rules 333-250-0000 through 333-250-0100 and 333-255-000 through 333-255-0090. 

 

20. “Morrow County Court (Court)” means an elected body consisting of 3 County 

commissioners. 

 

21. “Morrow County Health District (Board)” means a five (5) person board elected by the 

voters of Morrow County. The Board is elected to assure that all areas of the county are 

represented.  The primary responsibility of the Board is to administer the county medical 

fund and to administer and oversee all aspects of the medical needs of Morrow County.  

 

22. “Notification Time” means the length of time between the initial receipt of the request for 

emergency medical service by either a provider or an emergency dispatch center (9-1-1), 

and the notification of all responding emergency medical service personnel. 

 



 

 

 

 5 

23. “Owner” means the person having all the incidents of ownership in a vehicle or, where the 

incidents of ownership are in different persons, the person, other than a security interest 

holder or lessor, entitled to the possession of a vehicle under a security agreement of a lease 

for a term of ten (10) or more successive days. 

 

24.  “Patient” means an ill, injured, or disabled person who may be transported in an 

ambulance.  

 

25. “Provider” means any public, private or volunteer entity providing EMS. 

 

26. “Provider selection process” means the process established by the county for selecting an 

ambulance service provider or providers.  

 

27. “Public Service Answering Point (PSAP)” means an agency that answers calls from citizens 

for emergencies involving requests for emergencies involving requests for emergency fire, 

police or medical assistance.  An example of a PSAP in a 9-1-1 Center. 

 

28. “Quick Response Team (QRT)” means an agency that provides initial response and basic 

life support care without transportation capabilities by certified First Responders. 

 

29. “Response time” means the length of time between the notification of each provider and the 

arrival of each provider's emergency medical service unit(s) at the incident scene. 

 

30. “Supervising physician” has the meaning provided in OAR 847-35-001. 

 

31. “System response time” means the elapsed time from when the PSAP receives the call until 

the arrival of the appropriate provider unit(s) on the scene. 

 



 

 

 

 6 

OVERVIEW OF MORROW COUNTY 

 

Morrow County is located in north central Oregon, east of the Cascade Mountains.  The northern 

border extends 35 miles along the Columbia River and the State of Washington.  The northern 

terrain consists of primarily rolling plains and broad plateaus.  The southern terrain consists of the 

Umatilla National Forest and Blue Mountains.  Within the county lies two military installations: 

Umatilla Army Depot and the U.S. Navy bombing Range.  The county has an area of approximately 

2,000 square miles and population of roughly 13,000. 

 

Morrow County is a sparsely populated county that is remote from ambulance service and therefore 

must rely on quick response teams for initial emergency medical care.  Quick response teams have 

been established in Lexington.  These teams are provided with a comprehensive first aid kit which 

includes medical oxygen. 

 

Morrow County averages 1300 requests for ambulance service each year.  This figure includes:  

emergency and non-emergency scene response; hospital to home transfers; inter-facility transfers; 

stand-bys; and no patient transports.  An ambulance service would need massive subsidies if it were 

required to place an ambulance outside the cities of Boardman, Irrigon, and Heppner.  It would be 

very difficult for personnel to maintain both their skills and interest.  Based on the above 

information, the county will be considered a single EMS area.  Occasionally, an incident within the 

county may be handled more expediently by a service located in an adjoining county.  Mutual aid 

agreements will be enacted with the ambulance providers from the adjoining counties for that 

purpose. 

 

The current ambulance provider is owned and operated by the Morrow County Health District, 

Morrow County Ambulance located in Heppner, Ione, Boardman, and Irrigon. Morrow County 

Ambulance, Heppner, which is staffed both paid and volunteer personnel, operates two units from 

their location at Pioneer Memorial Hospital, 564 E. Pioneer Drive in Heppner.  Morrow County 

Ambulance, Heppner, has 7 EMT-B's, 3 EMT-I's, and 1-EMT-P. Morrow County Ambulance, 

Boardman, which is staffed by paid and volunteer personnel, operates two units from their location 

at West Wilson Road, Boardman. Morrow County Ambulance, Boardman, has 7 EMT-B's, 6 EMT-

I's and 1 EMT P. At least one ambulance at each location is an ALS equipped vehicle.   Morrow  

County  Ambulance,  Irrigon,  has 3 EMT-Bs,  and 3 EMT-I's and 1 EMT-Ps. Irrigon is serviced by 

one ALS equipped ambulance, located at 3d & N. Main. Morrow County Ambulance, Ione, has 1 

EMT Bs and is equipped with 1 BLS ambulance. 

 

The following is the Ambulance Service Area Plan and ambulance ordinance for Morrow County.  

By developing this document, it will help to ensure that the citizens of Morrow County have access 

to an efficient and effective ambulance service in spite of this being a remote and sparsely 

populated area. 



 

 

 

 7 

BOUNDARIES 

 

 ASA MAP(s) WITH RESPONSE TIME ZONES (See Appendix #1) 

 

 ASA NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION 

 

 The Morrow County ASA, Boardman, encompasses all the territory to the East along I-84 

starting at milepost 150 (Morrow/Gilliam County Line) to milepost 177 (Morrow/Umatilla 

County Line) and to mile post 169 (Railroad overpass) Highway 730, to the South on the 

Bombing Range Road to Alpine Lane. 

 

 The Morrow County ASA, Heppner, encompasses all the territory to the North from 

milepost 25 (Morrow/Wheeler County Line) on Highway 207 (Heppner-Spray Highway) to 

milepost 14B on Highway 207 (Lexington-Echo Highway). East from milepost 8 

(Morrow/Gilliam County Line) on Highway 74 to milepost 73 (Morrow/Umatilla County 

Line) on Highway 74, on Highway 206 from Condon starting at milepost 55 

(Morrow/Gilliam County line) to the Junction with Highway 207.  Morrow County ASA, 

Heppner, will include Willow Creek Road East to Morrow/Umatilla County line on Forest 

Service Road 53. 

  

The Morrow County ASA, Irrigon, encompasses all the territory to the West from milepost  

179 on Highway 730  (Morrow/Umatilla County Line) to milepost 169 (Railroad Overpass) 

and from the Columbia River South to I-84.  

 

 

 9-1-1 MAPS  (See Appendix #2) 

 

 9-1-1 NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION 

  

 The enhanced 9-1-1 Boundaries can be described as encompassing all of Morrow County.  

The entire County was served by 9-1-1 as of 1980.  Morrow County is served by a County-

wide EMS dispatch & PSAP.  It is located at the Morrow County Sheriff's Office in 

Heppner.  

 

 INCORPORATED CITIES  (See Appendix #3) 

 

 FIRE DISTRICT BOUNDARIES  (See Appendix #4)     

 

NOTE:  For Intergovernmental agreements: (See Appendix #5) for sample.  Intergovernmental 

agreements will be reviewed and evaluated and change if deemed necessary every two (2) years. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 8 

 

 ASA ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED TO REDUCE RESPONSE TIMES 

 

 Morrow County is covered by a single ASA.  The intent of boundary definitions is to limit 

the effects of artificial & geographic barriers on response time, recognizing that response 

patterns may change due to local conditions such as road closure and weather.  Morrow 

County has many natural response barriers, including rivers and large roadless areas which 

were considered when designating the ASA. 

 

 The principle (potential) artificial barrier to response time throughout Morrow County is the 

fact that most EMS personnel are volunteers, and as such are subject to other employment 

obligations and non-EMS activities.  Consequently, response times can potentially be 

delayed through the process of locating available personnel.  A three-year plan is underway 

to increase the number of paid EMS personnel in Boardman, Heppner, and Irrigon to eight 

(8) FTE in each location.  Ambulance halls in Boardman, Heppner, and Irrigon will be 

staffed 24/7 by paid personnel and may be backed up by volunteers.  This model is expected 

to reduce the impact of this barrier. 

 

 A second potential artificial barrier is the limited number of ambulances in the county.  If 

existing ambulances in the county are already responding to an incident, response times to 

subsequent incidents may be delayed while mutual aid is summoned and other units respond 

from a more distant location. 

 

 In instances in which a response may be delayed, there are several options which may be 

considered and employed based on the circumstances: 

 Multiple ambulances may be dispatched from different locations within the ASA 

and/or outside of the ASA utilizing mutual aid agreements, 

 An air ambulance may be requested, 

 Additional personnel may be requested, 

 Other agencies, such as the fire district, may be contacted for assistance. 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 9 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS – PRE-ARRANGED NON-EMERGENCY TRANSFERS 

  

 1. Morrow County Ambulance Service retains the first right of refusal for non-

emergency ambulance and inter-hospital transfers. 

 

 2.   In the event that Morrow County Ambulance Service is unavailable, it is the 

responsibility of the hospital to find transportation. 

 

 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - TIMES 

  

 1. Notification times for all responding EMS personnel shall not exceed three (3) 

minutes. 

 

 2.   Response times for First Responders and ASA providers shall not exceed: 

 

  a.  Twenty (20) minutes on 90% of all EMS calls in rural areas.  

 

  b.  Four and one-half (4 1/2) hours on 90% of all calls in frontier areas. 

 

  c. For response times to a specific address refer to the appropriate ASA time 

zone map, Appendix #1.   

 

 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - LEVEL OF CARE 

 

 To establish a minimum level of prehospital emergency medical care within Morrow 

County, the ambulance providers and QRTs shall conform to the following standards: 

 

  a.  The QRTs shall provide a minimum level of basic life support care using 

Authority-certified First Responders. 

 

  b.  The ambulance service provider shall provide the minimum level of basic 

life support using Authority-certified EMT B or EMT Is. 

 

  c.  ALS ambulances shall be dispatched as available on all requests for medical 

assistance which are triaged as requiring ALS services according to the 

standards adopted by ATAB rules and Morrow County EMS Advisory 

Committee. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 10 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - PERSONNEL 

 

 To establish a minimum of personnel staffing within Morrow County, the ambulance 

service provider and QRTs shall conform to the following standards: 

 

  a. The QRTs shall respond with a minimum of one (1) person who is a 

certified First Responder. 

 

  b. The QRTs may be staffed with in-house or on-call paid, per diem or 

volunteer personnel. 

 

  c. The ambulance service provider shall respond with the minimum number 

and level of certified persons as required by the Authority. 

 

  d. The ambulance service provider may be staffed with in-house or on-call 

paid, per diem or volunteer personnel. 

 

 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - MEDICAL SUPERVISION 

 

 To establish a minimum level of medical supervision within Morrow County, the  

ambulance service provider, QRTs, and the supervising physician shall conform to the 

following standards: 

 

  a. The agencies that provide ambulance service and QRTs shall retain a 

supervising physician. 

 

  b. The supervising physician or designee shall comply with OAR 847-35-025 

and:    

   

   (1) Conduct at least one (1) meeting each calendar quarter for training 

and case review with First Responder, EMT B and EMT Is. 

 

   (2) Meet at least ten (10) times annually for training and case reviews 

with all EMT Ps. 

 

   (3) Maintain and review annually, standing orders (and on-line 

protocols, if used) for First Responders and EMTs. 

 

  c. Maintain unit meeting records for attendance and minutes for such meetings. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 11 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - PATIENT CARE EQUIPMENT 

 

 To establish a minimum standard for patient care equipment within Morrow County, the 

ambulance service provider and QRTs shall conform to the following standards: 

 

  a. QRTs shall provide and maintain in proper working condition patient care 

equipment and supplies in sufficient quantities to provide the minimum 

level of patient care which they have agreed to provide. 

 

  b. Patient care equipment and supplies, at a minimum, shall include, but are 

not limited to: 

 

   (1) stethoscope; 

  

   (2) blood pressure cuff; 

 

   (3) portable oxygen, one (1) hour supply, with regulator; 

 

   (4) non-rebreathing masks for infants, children and adults; 

 

   (5) sterile bandaging material; and 

 

   (6) any other items specified by the supervising physician. 

 

  c. The ALS ambulance service provider shall maintain on each ambulance, 

patient care equipment and supplies which conform with the standards, 

requirements and maintenance provisions of all Authority statutes and 

administrative rules pertaining to ambulances and equipment. 

 

  d. ALS ambulances carrying controlled substances shall be equipped to 

provide a locked box that is attached to the inside of a locked cabinet for the 

storage of Class II through IV controlled substances.  The same key cannot 

be used for both locks. 

 

 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - VEHICLES 

 

 To establish a minimum standard for ambulances within Morrow County, the ambulance 

service provider shall conform to the following: 

 

  a. The ambulance service provider shall not operate an ambulance unless the 

ambulance: 

 



 

 

 

 12 

   (1) conforms to ORS 682.015 to 682.295 and all rules adopted by the 

Authority; 

 

   (2) has a minimum patient transport capacity of two (2) supine patients; 

 

   (3) is in sound mechanical operating condition; and 

 

   (4) has a current ambulance license that is issued by the Authority. 

 

  b. The ambulance service provider shall maintain each ambulance in 

conformity with vehicular manufacturer's recommendations and 

recommendations of the ambulance conversion manufacturer. 

 

  c. The ambulance service provider shall maintain vehicular equipment which 

conforms to ORS 682.015 to 682.295 and all rules adopted by the Authority. 

 

  d. The ambulance service provider shall maintain all necessary records to 

demonstrate compliance with (a), (b) and (c) listed above.  See vehicle check 

list and inspection form.  (See Appendix #8.) 

 

  e. The ambulance service provider shall operate each ambulance in accordance 

with applicable motor vehicle codes, rules and statutes, and in a safe manner 

with due regard for lights, traffic, road and weather conditions. 

 

  f. No ambulance shall be operated by any person who does not meet the 

requirements established in OAR 333-255-0070(1), (4) or (6) plus not have 

been convicted of two or more moving violations in the previous twelve 

months or three or more moving violations in the previous twenty-four 

months. 

 

 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - TRAINING 

 

 In order to create a consistent level of education and training, the Morrow County EMS 

Advisory Committee shall cooperate with all agencies and educational facilities to create 

opportunities for continuing education and training for all EMS personnel.  Blue Mountain 

Community College (BMCC) in Pendleton provides initial training for EMT B, EMT-A 

and EMT-I's, and continued education for EMTs to assure the availability of maintaining 

current EMT certificates for EMTs affiliated with the ambulance service provider.  All 

training will meet or exceed Oregon Health Authority requirements. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 13 

SYSTEM ELEMENTS - QUALITY ASSURANCE 

 

 1. In order to ensure the delivery of efficient and effective pre-hospital emergency 

medical care, an EMS Quality Assurance (QA) Program is hereby established. 

 

       a. QA Program Structure.  The QA program, shall be implemented through the 

establishment and operation of the EMS Advisory Committee.  The Board 

will announce vacancies, receive applications, screen candidates, and make 

appointments to the EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee.  The 

EMS Advisory Committee/QA Committee members shall serve at the 

pleasure of the Board without compensation.  The QA Subcommittee shall 

meet quarterly.  Terms of appointment will be for two years.  The members 

of the EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee will choose their 

chairpersons.  The EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee shall 

consist of the following: 

 

   (1) The supervising physician or designee for the ambulance service 

provider - 1; 

 

   (2) An EMT from each ambulance service provider location (one from 

Boardman, one from Heppner one from Ione and one from Irrigon) - 

4; 

 

   (3) Director of Nursing Service or designee (one from Pioneer Memorial 

Hospital in Heppner and one from Good Shepherd Hospital in 

Hermiston) - 2; 

 

   (4) Fire department representative - 1; 

 

   (5) 9-1-1 systems representative - 1; and 

 

   (6) QRT representative (one from Lexington) - 1. 

 

  b. QA Program Process. 

 

   (1) The EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee shall have 

the following powers, duties and responsibilities: 

 

    (a) Advise the Board on all matters relating to pre-hospital 

emergency medical care. 

 

    (b) Annually review the ASA Plan and EMS Ordinance and 

make amendment recommendations to the Board. 



 

 

 

 14 

 

    (c) Plan, assist and coordinate programs for the improvement of 

the EMS system in Morrow County. 

  

    (d) Advise the Board as to the standards for information required 

of applicants for an ambulance service provider. 

 

    (e) Provide an open forum for members of the public to 

comment on or discuss EMS systems issues. 

 

    (f) Foster cooperation among the pre-hospital care providers and 

medical community. 

 

    (g) Facilitate initial EMT and First Responder training and 

continuing education opportunities for all EMS personnel. 

 

   (2) The QA Subcommittee shall have the following duties, powers and 

responsibilities: 

 

    (a) Investigate medically related issues and items. 

 

    (b) Recommend to the Board any amendments to the ASA Plan 

and EMS Ordinance.  The Board shall advise the EMS 

Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee of such 

recommendation so that they may review and comment on 

such changes in a timely manner. 

 

    (c) Maintain familiarization with the policies and procedures of 

facilities in Morrow County that receive or send patients via 

ambulance. 

 

    (d) Periodically conduct a random review of at least 2% of each 

ambulance service provider location prehospital care report 

forms.  Develop screens to review calls for exemplary and 

substandard performance, include a screen for response times 

by each EMS provider dispatched to the scene. 

 

    (e) Perform such other duties as are required to carry out the 

requirements of the ASA Plan as directed by the Board. 

 

    (f) Attempt to negotiate the correction of substandard pre-

hospital emergency medical care provided in Morrow 

County. 



 

 

 

 15 

 

    (g) Follow the guidance set forth in the QA Guidelines for the 

QA Subcommittee. 

 

    (h) Report directly to the Board on all matters coming before the 

QA Subcommittee. 

 

    (i) Adopt rules of procedure.  A quorum must include a 

physician or designee. 

 

   (3)  EMS Advisory Committee shall conduct their meetings in 

accordance with the Oregon Public Meetings laws and comply with 

the Oregon public records law, ORS Chapter 192.  Executive 

sessions closed to the public may be held by the QA Subcommittee 

when conducting investigations and reviews of patient care.  Both 

the records and minutes of executive sessions shall be handled to 

ensure patient confidentiality in compliance with state and federal 

laws.  Upon appointment, the EMS Advisory Committee/QA 

Subcommittee chairperson shall have the following duties powers 

and responsibilities: 

 

    (a) Maintain a filing system for the records of the QA 

Subcommittee. 

 

    (b) Provide for the administration of appeals and hearings to the 

appropriate government bodies. 

 

    (c) Administer the ASA Plan and EMS Ordinance. 

 

    (d) Review all applications for an ASA and make documented 

findings and recommendations to the Board on provider 

selection. 

 

  c.  QA Problem Resolution  

 

   (1) In the event that the QA Subcommittee identifies a problem 

involving compliance with the ASA Plan, or that fails to conform to 

established protocols, the QA Subcommittee shall: 

 

    (a) request any additional information necessary to establish 

whether a violation or failure occurred. 

 



 

 

 

 16 

    (b) contact the non-compliant provider, individual or 

organization in writing and identify the specific facts, laws, 

rules or protocols concerning the violation or failure to 

conform. 

 

    (c) request that within thirty (30) days the non-compliant 

provider individual or organization submit a written response 

and a plan to correct the deficiencies. 

 

   (2) Upon receipt of the written response, the QA Subcommittee shall: 

 

    (a) Review the response to ensure that it responds to all aspects 

of the facts, laws, rules or protocols. 

 

    (b) Review the written plan for resolution of the deficiency. 

 

    (c) Upon findings of compliance, continue to monitor the plan 

for solution of the deficiencies. 

 

    (d) Upon findings of continued non-compliance, serve written 

notice to comply with ASA Plan or protocol. 

 

    (e) If compliance is not evident with ten (10) days of receipt of 

the notice, schedule a meeting within the next ten (10) days 

and attempt to gain compliance. 

 

    (f) Attempt to obtain voluntary correction or compliance, but if 

compliance is not obtained, request a hearing on the matter 

before the Board. 

 

 2. QA Program - Sanctions For Non-Compliance.  Sanctions for non-compliance of 

the ASA plan are addressed in the Morrow County EMS ordinance number MC-C-

2-98, Section 13 penalties and Section 14 nuisance.  (See Appendix #9) 



 

 

 

 17 

COORDINATION - ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN 

 

 1. The Morrow County ASA Plan shall be administered by the EMS Advisory 

Committee.  As representatives of the Board. 

  

   2. In addition to other functions delegated under this plan the EMS Advisory 

Committee shall: 

 

  a. annually review all aspects of the ASA plan and EMS ordinance; and 

    

  b. recommend changes to the ASA plan and EMS ordinance designed to: 

 

   (1) Remedy identified deficiencies; 

 

   (2) Address potential problem areas; and 

 

   (3) Address on-going growth and changes in the EMS system in 

Morrow County, the state and the nation. 

 

 

COORDINATION - COMPLAINT REVIEW PROCESS 

  

 1. In the event the QA Subcommittee is unable to obtain compliance or correction of a 

deficiency under the procedures contained in QA Problem Resolution section of this 

plan, a hearing shall be conducted by the Board.  

 

 2. If any provider, individual or organization is dissatisfied with the results of a 

meeting with the QA Subcommittee, a request for hearing before the Board may be 

made by filing a request, setting forth the reasons for the hearing and the issues to be 

heard.  The Board may prescribe forms for the filing of a request for hearing. 

 

 3. A hearing under this section shall be conducted by the Board chairperson or vice-

chairperson in accordance with the Attorney General's Model Rules of Procedures. 

 

 4. In the event that the Board is unable to obtain compliance or correction as a result of 

a hearing, the Board shall petition and request relief from the Authority, or the 

Board of Medical Examiners or the Morrow County Circuit Court. 

 

 6. Any decision of the Board may be appealed to the Authority or the Morrow County 

Circuit Court as appropriate. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 18 

COORDINATION - MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

 

 1. The ambulance service provider shall sign a mutual aid agreement with the other 

providers within the County and respond with needed personnel and equipment in 

accordance with the agreement.  (See Appendix #6 for example.) 

 

 2. All requests for mutual aid shall be made through the appropriate PSAP. 

 

 3. All mutual aid agreements will be reviewed annually and modified as needed by 

mutual consent of all parties. 

 

 4. Mutual Aid Advance Life Support (ALS) assists shall be automatically dispatched 

in accordance with the Emergency Medical Dispatch Protocols established by the 

EMS Advisory Committee. 

 

 

COORDINATION - DISASTER RESPONSE 

 

 1. County resources other than ambulances. 

 

  a. When resources other than ambulances are required for the provision of 

emergency medical services during a disaster, a request for additional 

resources shall be made through the appropriate PSAP to the County 

Emergency Management Office. 

 

  b. The Director of the County Emergency Management Office shall be 

responsible for locating and coordinating all county EMS resources any time 

that the Mass Casualty Incident (MCI) Management Plan is implemented. 

 

  c. The Director of the County Emergency Management Office shall work 

directly with local agencies, departments and governments to coordinate 

necessary resources during any implementation of the MCI Plan. 

 

 2.  Outside county resources. 

 

  a. When resources from outside Morrow County are required for the provision 

of emergency medical services during a disaster, a request for those 

resources shall be made through the appropriate PSAP to the County 

Emergency Management Office. 

 

  b. The Director of the County Emergency Management Office shall be 

responsible for requesting and coordination all out of county resources any 

time the MCI Plan is implemented. 



 

 

 

 19 

 

  c. Additional Ambulances 

 

   (1) Rotary-wing ambulances 

 

    (a) Life Flight (Pendleton, OR)     

     1-800-452-7434 

      

    (b) AirLink of Oregon (Bend, OR) 

     1-800-621-5433 

 

     

 

   (2) Fixed-wing ambulances 

 

     (a) AirLink of Oregon (Bend, OR) 

     1-800-621-5433 

              

    (b) Life Flight (Pendleton, OR) 

      1-800-452-7434 

     

 

 

   (3) Ground ambulances 

 

    (a) Hermiston Ambulance  1-541-567-8822 

 

    (b) Umatilla Ambulance   1-541-922-3718 

 

    (c) Pendleton Ambulance  1-541-267-1442 

      

    (d) Spray Ambulance      676-5317 or 9-1-1 

      

    (e) Condon Ambulance 676-5317 or 9-1-1 

      

    (f) Arlington Ambulance  676-5317 or 9-1-1 

      

     

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 20 

 

 

 1.  Mass Casualty Incident (MCI) Management Plan 

 

  a. The plan is intended for use when any single incident or combination of 

incidents depletes the resources of any single provider or providers during 

the normal course of daily operations. 

 

  b. The plan identifies the responsibility of the provider concerning: 

 

   (1) Coordination; 

    

   (2) Communication; 

 

   (3) Move up; 

 

   (4) Triage; and 

 

   (5) Transportation. 

 

  c. The EMS Advisory Committee will periodically review the MCI plan and 

revise it to meet the counties need. Following the review and changes the 

Director of Emergency Management will be asked to amend the changes to 

the Medical component of the County Emergency Management Plan and the 

modified MCI plan will be promulgated.  For MCI Plan and Approval letter, 

(See Appendix #7.) 

 



 

 

 

 21 

EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS AND SYSTEMS ACCESS TELEPHONE 

 

 1.  Telephone access.  Morrow County is served by a county-wide EMS dispatch and 

PSAP.  It is located at the Morrow County Sheriff's Office in Heppner. A small 

portion of the Butter Creek Area is served by the Hermiston 9-1-1 System. 

 

 2. Dispatch Procedures.   

 

  a. The appropriate personnel shall be notified by the dispatcher via telephone 

or pager within three (3) minutes of receipt of a life threatening call. 

 

   (1) EMS responding personnel located in Heppner, Boardman, Irrigon, 

Ione, and Lexington will be paged out.  If there is no response within 

five (5) minutes, they will be paged again. 

    

   (2) The dispatcher will obtain from the caller, and relay to the first 

responders the following: 

 

(a) Location of the emergency; 

 

(b) Nature of the incident; and 

 

(c) Any specific instructions or information that may be 

pertinent to the incident. 

   

   (3) EMS personnel shall inform the dispatch center by radio when any 

of the following occurs: 

 

    (a) In-service; 

 

    (b) In-route to scene or destination and type or response; 

 

    (c) Arrival on scene or destination; 

 

    (d) Transporting patient(s) to hospital or medical facility, the 

number of patients, and name of facility; and 

 

    (e) Arrival at receiving facility. 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 22 

   (4) Ambulance personnel shall inform the receiving hospital by radio or 

by phone at the earliest possible time of the following: 

 

    (a) Unit identification number; 

 

    (b) Age and sex of each patient; 

 

    (c) Condition and chief complaint of the each patient; 

 

    (d) Vital signs of each patient; 

 

    (e) Treatment rendered; and 

 

    (f) Estimated time of arrival. 

 

 3. Radio System: 

  

  a. PSAP shall: 

 

   (1) restrict access to authorized personnel only; 

 

   (2) meet state fire marshal standards; 

 

   (3) maintain radio consoles capable of communication directly with all 

first response agencies dispatched by them via the following 

frequencies: primary 154.725; secondary 155.340 (HEAR system); 

also the 700 mhz system 

 

   (4) maintain radio logs which contain all information required by the 

Federal Communications Commission and Oregon Revise Statutes; 

 

   (5) utilize plain english; and 

 

   (6) be equipped with a back-up power source capable of maintaining all 

functions of the center. 

 

  b. The ambulance service provider shall equip and maintain radios in each 

ambulance and quick response vehicle that allows for the transmission and 

reception on 154.725 and 155.340 (HEAR) and the 700 mhz system. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 23 

 

 4. Emergency Medical Services Dispatcher Training: 

 

  a. All EMS dispatchers shall successfully complete an Emergency Medical 

Dispatch (EMD) training course as approved by the Oregon Emergency 

Management Division and the Board on Public Safety Standards and 

Training.  

 

  b. Dispatchers are encouraged to attend any class, course or program which 

will enhance their dispatching abilities and skills. 



 

 

 

 24 

PROVIDER SELECTION 

 

 1. Initial ambulance service provider assignment.  Morrow County Ambulance 

Service, owned and operated by the Morrow County Health District, and who have 

been providing ambulance service for the past fifty years shall be named to provide 

ambulance service in their area of assignment as specified in this plan, until such 

time they no longer desire to do so or legal steps have been taken to remove the 

provider from the assigned area: 

 

   2. Reassignment.  If at such time when a new provider is assigned to the Morrow 

County ASA, the assignment will be made not to exceed five (5) years.  At the end 

of five (5) years, the ambulance service provider may reapply for another term as 

well as being evaluated on the service provided during the previous term. 

 

 3.  Application for the Morrow County ASA: 

 

  a. The Morrow County ASA Plan will serve as standards established to 

evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of existing service providers as well 

as establishing guidelines for potential applicants to a service area. 

 

  b. A representative will be appointed from the Board to attend regular meetings 

of EMS Advisory Committee, to learn the State and Federal regulations, 

local policies and the general operation of an ambulance service.  

Information will be presented to the Board at appropriate meetings to 

determine the effectiveness and efficiency of existing ambulance services 

and potential applicant services. 

    

  c. Should a vacancy occur in the existing Morrow County ASA, the below 

listed representatives will advertise the vacancy by public notice.  This 

notice will be published in all Morrow County communities, surrounding 

areas, the medical community and Oregon Health Authority. 

    

  d. The Board will review any applications received from an ambulance service 

provider requesting establishing an ambulance service area in Morrow 

County.  This group will seek necessary information and input from the 

EMS Advisory Committee when evaluating applications.  Each ambulance 

service provider applicant will be required to: 

 

   (1) show that the service will provide equal or better pre-hospital 

emergency medical care as provided by existing services through a 

proposal and/or previous records; 

 

 



 

 

 

 25 

 

 

   (2) show that the call volume will be sufficient to provide financial 

soundness for operation of the ambulance service through 

community use of a paid service; 

 

   (3) show that financial soundness for operation of the ambulance service 

will be obtained if the service is operated by volunteer personnel; 

 

   (4) show it's service will assure quality care to all persons residing in or 

passing through the service area; 

 

   (5) follow all regulations pertaining to ambulance service as set forth by 

the Oregon Health Authority, Oregon Board of Medical Examiners 

and Oregon Department of Motor Vehicles; 

 

   (6) provide the following information in the proposal:  number and 

type(s) of ambulances, including medical equipment; vehicle storage 

arrangements; communication capabilities; dispatching capabilities; 

and number of personnel, qualifications and their method of 

providing prehospital emergency medical continuing education 

training; and 

 

   (7) adhere to all policy, procedures and guidelines set forth in the 

Morrow County ASA Plan. 

    

 4. In the opinion of the community/county officials and health care providers, it is not 

feasible at this time for a private ambulance service provider to make a proposal for 

any of the communities in Morrow County due to the small call volume and the vast 

area to cover.  The County has provided pre-hospital emergency medical care for the 

past fifty (50) years through the efforts if dedicated volunteers.  The community 

leaders involved in EMS are willing to listen to, assess and evaluate any proposal 

presented. 



 

 

 

 26 

 5. Notification of vacating an ASA: 

  

  a. The assigned ambulance service provider agrees to provide to Morrow 

County Emergency Medical Service Director a ninety (90) day notice of a 

decision of discontinuance of service. 

  

  b. A notice to vacate must be prepared and signed by the ambulance service 

provider's Board of Directors, if the service elects to discontinue their 

service in Morrow County.  The statement will be presented to the 

appropriate agencies for action. 

 

  c. In the event the Morrow County Ambulance elects to discontinue and 

disband their pre-hospital emergency medical service care, the following 

procedure will be implemented until such time that an ambulance service 

can be restored to the effected area. 

 

  d. The Court and Board will request the remaining provider to adjust their 

service area boundaries to insure adequate coverage of the area without 

ambulance service until such time as the problem can be resolved and 

ambulance service can be restored to the affected area(s). 

   

  e. If possible, the officials in charge will resolve the problems within the ninety 

(90) day advance notice of discontinued service.  The fire department(s) 

personnel within the disbanded area will be requested to assist with 

emergency medical calls.  Assistance will also be requested if needed, from 

the closest ambulance service outside the County through a mutual aid 

agreement. 

   

  f. In the event a satisfactory solution to all parties involved cannot be reached 

within a reasonable amount of time, the EMS Advisory Committee will 

appoint a task force comprised of representative from: each ambulance 

service, the Board, the medical community and a citizen of each community 

involved (not affiliated with he health care industry), to reach a reasonable 

and workable solution. 

 

  g. The ambulance service provider vacating their area will be required to 

turnover their ambulance(s) and equipment to the Board for use by the 

recruited interim personnel until a replacement service can be established in 

the area.  Any compensation due will be negotiated by the vacating 

ambulance service's Board of Directors and the Board.  In the event that no 

solution can be reached through the Board efforts within a reasonable 

amount of time, assistance will be requested form the appropriate State 

agencies. 



 

 

 

 27 

 

 

  h. In the event that any problems arise involving boundary assignments or 

reassignment, the ambulance service provider disagreeing with boundaries 

will present a written statement to the EMS Advisory Committee.  The 

statement will include all pertinent facts relating to the problem(s). 

   

   6.  Maintenance of level of service.  This disbanding ambulance service 

provider will be required to turnover their ambulance(s) and equipment to the Board 

for use by the recruit interim personnel until a replacement service can be 

established in the area.  Any compensation due will be negotiated by the disbanding 

ambulance service provider's Board of Directors and the Board.  In the event that no 

solution can be reached through the Board efforts within a reasonable amount of 

time, assistance will be requested form the appropriate State agencies. 

 



 

 

 

 28 

THE MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT PLAN 

 

 1. The purpose of the disaster response plan is to provide guidance to EMS response 

personnel in the coordination of response activities relating to mass casualty 

incidents in Morrow County.  (See Appendix #7, MCI plan approval letter.) 

 

 2. IMPLEMENTATION:  This plan shall be implemented whenever the ambulance 

service provider resources are unable to handle the incident or at the request of the 

Health Officer. 

 

 3. COORDINATION: 

 

  a. The highest ranking officers of the fire or police agency in whose 

jurisdiction the incident occurs shall be the incident-commander. 

  

  b. The senior/highest certified EMT at the scene will have overall 

responsibility for patient care; he/she shall work closely with the incident-

commander. 

 

  c. The on-scene command frequency and staging area will be determined by 

the incident-commander.  Dispatch center will advise responding units. 

 

 4. RESPONSE GUIDELINES: 

 

  a. The first EMS unit to arrive at the scene shall: 

 

   (1) assess nature and severity of incident; 

 

   (2) advise appropriate 9-1-1 PSAP of situation; 

 

   (3) request appropriate fire and police services; and 

 

   (4) request initiation of EMS mutual aid if needed. 

 

  b. Initial EMS Responders upon call-out shall: 

 

   (1) check-in with Incident-Commander; 

 

   (2) effect needed rescue, if trained and equipped to do; 

 

   (3) establish and organize the transportation of all injured, ill, or 

evacuated; 

 



 

 

 

 29 

   (4) alert area hospital(s) of situation; and 

 

 

   (5) monitor and reassess situation periodically considering: 

 

     (a) weather; 

  

     (b) topography; 

  

     (c) exposures; 

  

     (d) life threatening hazards; and 

  

     (e) fire hazards. 

 

 

COORDINATION - PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT RESOURCES 

 

 1. The following additional personnel and equipment resources are available to support 

the ambulance service provider.  The current telephone numbers are:  

 

  a. Hazardous Materials.  There is limited county-wide hazardous materials 

equipment resources located at:  

 

   (1) Boardman Fire Department -- 9-1-1 

 

   (2) Irrigon Fire Department  -- 9-1-1 

 

   (3) Heppner Fire Department  -- 9-1-1 

 

   (4) O.A.R.S.--- (provides notification and activation of state agencies) --

- 1-800-452-0311 or 503-378-6377 

   

   (5) CHEMTREC--- 1-800-424-9300   

 

   (6) Hermiston Fire Department ( Hazmat Decon for Eastern Oregon)   1-

541-567-8822 

 

  b.  Search and Rescue 

 

   (1) Morrow County Sheriffs Office -- 9-1-1 or 676-5317 

 

   (2) Oregon Civil Air Patrol -- 1-800-452-0311 or 503-378-6377 



 

 

 

 30 

 

  

 

 

 

   (3) U.S. Coast Guard, (since the Columbia River falls under the 

jurisdiction of the U.S. Coast Guard, they will provide specialized 

aircraft and watercraft for rescue operations.  These units will 

respond from either Astoria, OR 1-503-861-2242 or  

    1-503-861-6248; or Walla Walla, WA. 

 

    c. Specialized Rescue 

 

   (1) Morrow County Sheriffs Office -- 9-1-1 or 676-5317 

 

   (2) Umatilla Army Depot -- 541-564-8632 

 

   (3) U.S. Navy Bombing Range --541-481-2565 

 

  d. Extrication 

 

   (1) Boardman RFPD, Jaws and Rescue Equip -- 9-1-1 

 

   (2) Heppner RFPD, Jaws and Rescue Equip. -- 9-1-1 

 

   (3) Irrigon QRT, Jaws and Rescue Equip. -- 9-1-1 

 

   (4) Morrow County Road Dept - heavy equipment – 989-9500 

 

    



 
 

 

 

APPENDIX #6 

 MORROW COUNTY AMBULANCE 

  MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 

 

WHEREAS the Parties hereto maintain and operate Emergency Medical Services for the purpose of 

necessary lifesaving services within their respective service areas; and 

 

WHEREAS the parties recognize the possibility that numerous medical responses and/or disaster 

conditions in one Party's area could create insufficient resources to allow for effective operation of 

Emergency Medical Services in that area; and to accommodate those times when one Party is in 

need of emergency assistance; and 

 

WHEREAS the parties recognize that one Party may be more advantageously placed to provide 

effective Emergency Medical Services in the other Party's service area due to distance, road, or 

weather conditions; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is agreed as follows: 

 

 1.  Both parties agree to furnish personnel and equipment to the other Party when 

requested by competent authority, provided assisting Party has available adequate 

personnel and equipment to reasonably provide assistance, 

 

 2.   The Parties agree to maintain compatible radio communication capabilities with 

each other. 

 

 3.   It is mutually agreed and understood that this agreement shall not relieve either 

Party of the responsibility for Emergency Medical Services within its own district, 

nor does this agreement create any right in, or obligation to, third parties by either 

Party which would not exist in the absence of this agreement.  It is the intent of this 

agreement to provide reasonable assistance only, and not primary responsibility. 

 

 4.   It is agreed that this agreement for mutual aid shall constitute the sole consideration 

for the performance hereof, and that neither Party shall be obligated to reimburse 

that other for use of equipment or personnel.  During the course of rendering aid, the 

personnel and equipment of each party shall be at risk of that Party.  Each Party 

shall protect its personnel performing under this agreement by adequate workman's 

compensation insurance.  Each Party shall obtain and maintain in full force and 

effect adequate public liability and property damage insurance to cover claims for 

injury to persons or damage to property arising from such Party's performance of 

this agreement, and all right and subrogation right against each other, and against the 

agents and employees of each other for liability and damages covered, unless to do 

so would void such insurance coverage. 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 5.  This agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after the date of 

execution set opposite the signature of each Party until terminated or modified.  This 

agreement may be modified at any time by mutual consent of the Parties, and 

terminated by Party upon reasonable notice. 

 

 6.   In the event of a Presidential Disaster Declaration, or the Conflagration Act being 

invoked, this agreement shall not preclude or bar providers from claim for, or 

collection of, any type of reimbursement, payment, or restitution. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this agreement to be executed on the day set 

opposite the respective signature of each; said execution having been heretofore first authorized in 

accordance with law. 

 

 

                                                                                                                      SignatureTitleDate             

       

 

                                                                                                                      SignatureTitleDate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Morrow County 
Ambulance Service Areas 

D 
N 

O 2.5 5 10 Miles 
I I I 

/'/ Streets ~ Army Depot 

/'/ Highway Bombing Range 

ASA Boundaries 

D Arlington 

D Boardman 

D Irrigon 

D Heppner 

Hermiston 

D Army Depot 

Morrow County Planning Department 
July 2016 

Map for re ference use only. 
Sollrce: ODFW, OOOT, BLM, USDA, USFS, 

Oregon Dept. of Re.,,,nu•, ESRI 
..,_,.._ .___,..,...,...Cldalll .. -u,IIM.M ........,..__ 



.... ,. 

I 
! 

____ .........,. 

---------•oo ~ .11,1.'"""' ..... "~ ,e __ ,..rm_ 
,=: U!Vlllal' CJ lonulo! __ ....,,.. 

~ ~ ........,.~ 
Q ,ll ~ al.'Aal. ~ - -

" ------

·-•Nl'ltf 
,. __ 
C] """"'~ ·-*-B Nnen«.• "..,_ 
Ill-~ 
~ ==..M¥ ~1~ 
& - ·"··~ ·===-=-·-~ ~---+-r Ci- •- ~ 

r 

:£ 
"'"'""' 

ll2Sf. 

SC'AU! 

r--,_r--------, Foet 
Q 800 1.&DO 3,2(1(1 

~ M ..... 
~ 231.5 47$ 950 

.I 

I ' 
! 

I l 

' 

. .. 

I t~ 

:~ 
i 
J ~ 

OREGON TRANSPORTATION MAP 
Showing Federal Fwialional Cla, sificalion ofJloads 

City of 

BOARDMAN 



I I 
j I City of Irrigon 
· Zoning Map 

I I -- - --

1
1 ;7:-, , . --
I ..//11,1 
··· -· ·- II j I 

I ,, : I 1 , ( I 
! l ~ I I I I 1/ ~! , 
I If I I ' l I ~ I 

I l ! ' I I I l; I 
II I I _I I l .,! J 

I Ii I I I I I i I I 
II I ,, II~ tel.,.,.... 

· I i' . L I I I I I I I I I 

I 
I: : ! I ! I I I I ..,,,. I I 

11 I I I II I I II 
I I I l . (l 

1 11 I I i; I I l : II I 

I I I I j I , j I I : 
I II l II I I ; 

11 

111 
1 JI , 1- II I I 1 11 ' 
I ' 11 I I I I I i I ll I I '1 I 'i1 , ·, ,. 

II I I I I'. II I I I I I H- I: 
j , ' , 1 I I ~ 11· 

11 1 ~ 1 .. , , ! ' · , ·· I I I! ,, j I!_ r. t ·,1 I I, ' I' l 
q 
' I I : !J 

H 
I ;;z:, 

;o 

I 8 I I ~ 
' -- r·, 
I I I 

l l 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I Taxlols ', I 
City limits 

I' 
! ' 

-

R· 1 • Generot R811denUal I ! 
R-2 - llmfled Residential I - C-1 ~ Cllmlnercla-1 

C-2 G""8<111 Ccmmercial I 1 

- M - light lndu£lrlal 

' I RecreaUan I j 

l 5<>!, o 000 1~500 2000 Fool /\ ! ·, / 
- ----- w I ,,,..,, .. ,.,JJ&.,,. 11, ;1007 N ! 

' I 



LEGEND 

. ••-, .. 

I _, 

- SIDEWALK 

-- · - ''· .,,, ... ·" - CITY LIMITS 

- - - - - - - CREEK 

Appendix #3 

INCORPORATED CITIES: HEPPNER 

_.; 
~ 
•l 

/ 

/ 
I 

I 
/ 

' I 

/ 
I 

I 
J 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

/ 

HEPPNER ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL 

0 
NORTH 

(NOT TO SCALE) 

---- ... MORROW CO. F/'JRGROUNDS 

"' ~ CHUR 
£?~!!!!!!!!!J:e!!!!!!!m 

BALTIMOR 

TERRACE STREET 

CITY OF HEPPNER, OREGON 
from Oregon Transportation Plan, 1999 

HEPPNER CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 



111 i!s-t:an 

0 250 500 1, 00 1,500 
--=:::::11--c===::::J Feet 

J I I 

Town Of Lexington 
Zoning Map 

Public Use Development 
Code Amendment 

H 
z ;i:, 
("l 'O 
0 'O -
;,, (1) 

"d ::i 
0 A. 

~ 
.,. 
>: 

.-i '11 C'1 
C, <,; 

(") 
H 
1-l 
H 
rr, 
C/l .. 
r--
t<l 
>< 
H 
:z 
C) 
1-l 
0 
z 

N w. , 
s 

CJ Town Limits R - Residential - M - Light Industrial 

LJ UGB CJ FR - Farm Residential CJ RLI - Rural Light Industrial.--____ ___, 

-

r-7 Morrow Counly Planning Department 

* PUB - Public* L___J C - Commercial Mapfi~:f:~"r.':..0~;.only 



Appendix #3 

INCORPORATED CITIES: IONE 

c:- ____ .....,.. _____ .._. 

~ °'-', - T~ ...... ~ t1l111 

TIS ~ 2• I WM. 

C, ~•rt .,,... ... ..,,. 0 \f.& ___ ...,... 

0 .,_" ......... .... ,. 
,.'"'I, ".._,.,f'Olt - •• '""-.,,. .,., .... ..._" =..,. .................... .. 
.............. ...... .c~ .ll;IIICat, .'811111TM:II.IM 
Q C.t .- a-,,,. • Qh -.W.L 

~.,..,,._., W61111111011• ·-~· .... , . ............. 

... 
17 A 

u o 
I R 

IONE 
MORROW COUNTY, OREGON --............ ..-ftoC 

OAAOQlt ~..,...,., OI' ~•-~ _...,.....,~ 
.,ll_....,__,..,.........,.._. ......... ..................... 

SC.ALt 
• ... .... 

H I I I . ,. ... 
H I i 

r 

l 

_:1.s:. ··-; . .. 
-·" ·~~-~ . : .. 

' .. .:: r 
-·• .. 

:"'.:: .. ; 
, .... , .. , 
J 
,,, .. u••• 
! .... 



Morrow County 
Rural Fire Protection Districts 

D 
N 

0 2.5 5 
I I I 

• 

10 Miles 
I 

/"J Streets ~ Army Depot 

/"J Highway Bombing Range 

Fire Protection Districts 

C::J Irrigon RFPD 

[:=J Boardman RFPO 

C::J lone RFPD 

1111 Town of Lexington FD 

C::J Heppner RFPD 

11111111 PIiot Rock RFPD 

[:J South Gilliam County RFPD 

0 

Morrow County Planning Department 
July 2016 

Map for reference use only, 
Source: ODFW, ODOT. SLM, USDA, USFS, 

Oregon Dept, of ReveNJe, ESRI 
...__..._.._ • ...__,,,..~o.-•---n._..,, ............. ~ 



CERTIFICATION 

OF 
MORROW COUNTY 

AMBULANCE SERVICE AREA PLAN 

The undersigned certify, pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rule 333-260-0030(2)(a)(b)(c), that: 

1. Each subject or item contained in the Morrow County Ambulance Service Area
Plan has been addressed and considered in the adoption of the Plan by this body.

2. In this governing body's judgement, the Ambulance Service Areas established in
the Plan provide for the efficient and effective provision of ambulance services.

3. To the extent they are applicable, the County has complied with ORS 682.205(2)(3)
and 682.335 and existing local ordinances and rules.

Dated at Heppner, Oregon, this 28th day of April 2021. 

I '• 

I . -

'". 

�: . .

��'H' -�. � �" . 

2021 Ambulance Service Plan Certification 

:r� : 
;1· 

::,f• •, 

�a _i3 , 

�-;-. � 

Page 1 of 1 



PO BOX 9 

Heppner OR 97836 
Tel: 541-676-9133 

Toll Free: 1- 800-73 7-41 I 3 
www.morrowcountyhealthdistrict.org 

DETERMINATION 

Morrow County Health District 

ASA Plan EMS Advisory Committee 

A Request to Amend the Ambulance Service Area Plan (ASA Plan) was brought by Boardman Fire and Rescue District Chief, 
Michael Hughes, during a regularly called, public meeting on March 31, 2022. This meeting was preceded by a joint 
conference on March 21, 2022 attended by the following individuals: 

• Michael Hughes (BFRD Fire Chief)
• Ken Browne (BFRD Board Chair)
• Lisa Pratt (BFRD Board Member)
• Emily Roberts (MCHD CEO)
• Nicole Mahoney (MCHD CFO)
• Donna Sherman (MCHD EMS Director/ EMS Advisory Committee Member)
• Dr. Ed Berretta (MCHD EMS Supervising Physician/ EMS Advisory Committee Member)
• John Murray (MCHD Board Chair)
• Diane KilKenny (MCHD Board Member)
• Troy Bundy (Legal Counsel)

The public meeting was duly called and attended by the following Committee members: 
• Dr. Ed Berretta (Supervising physician or designee for the ambulance service provider)
• Donna Sherman (EMT from Heppner)
• Josie Foster (EMT from Irrigon)
• Adam McCabe (EMT from lone)
• Charlie Sumner (Quick response team representative from Lexington)
• Eric Chick (Fire department representative)
• Kristen Bowles (9-1-1 systems representative)
• Judi Gabriel (Director of nursing service or designee from Good Shepherd Hospital)
• Kathleen Greenup (Director of nursing service or designee from Pioneer Memorial Hospital)

The Request to Amend was based upon the desire of Boardman Fire District to attend all emergency calls within Boardman 
Fire District, regardless of subject matter of the calls. Following the public discussion, an Executive Session was called and 
the EMS Advisory Committee/QA Subcommittee was tasked with evaluating quality concern issues in determining 
whether amendment of the ASA would be appropriate, as it is required to do per the ASA Plan. The following background 
is highlighted for purposes of this DETERMINATION. 

The procedures for adopting ASA Plans are set out under the Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) in Chapter 333. The 
County, after consultation with appropriate entities, must present the proposed ASA Plan to the State of Oregon, Public 
Health Division - Oregon Health Authority (OHA) for approval. Once approved, the ASA Plan controls all aspects of the 
ambulance service area in question, including the coordination of "non-transporting EMS Providers," including Quick 
Response Teams (QRTs), which are defined as any agency that provides initial response and basic life support care without 
transportation capabilities by certified First Responders, OAR 333-260-0020(6)(e)(A). Emergency and Non-Emergency 

Pioneer Memorial 

Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

P -(541) 676-9133 

F -(541) 676-2901 

TDD -(541) 676-2908 

Pioneer Memorial 

Home Health & 

Hospice 

P -(541) 676-2946 

F-(541) 676-9017 

Pioneer Memorial 

Clinic 

P -(541) 676-5504 

F -(541) 676-9025 

Irrigon Medical 

Clinic 

P -(541) 922-5880 

F -(541) 922-5881 

lone Community 

Clinic 

P -(541) 422-7128 

F -(541) 422-7145 

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

Morrow County 

Ambulance 

P -(541) 676-9133 

F -(541) 676-2901 



PO BOX 9 

Heppner OR 9 7836 

Tel: 541-676-9133 

Toll Free: 1-800-73 7-4113 

www.morrowcountyhealthdistrict.org 

scene response are incorporated into the ASA Plan, and the Morrow County Health District Board is responsible for Plan 
oversight and appointment of the multi-disciplinary task force referred to as the EMS Advisory Committee. The Committee 

is composed of members representing all relevant specialty groups including medical, fire, and EMS. 

Per the ASA Plan, "The County is considered a single EMS area." This incorporates the Boardman Fire District. A narrative 

description of the boundaries of the EMS area are set out on Page 7 of the ASA Plan. The Plan was developed to "ensure 

that the citizens of Morrow County have access to an efficient and effective ambulance service in spite of this being a 

remote and sparsely populated area." 

The EMS Advisory Committee is tasked with advising the Morrow County Health District Board (The Board) on all matters 
relating to pre-hospital emergency medical care, making ASA Plan amendment recommendations to the Board, and 

fostering co-operation among pre-hospital care providers and the medical community. For Quality Assurance purposes 

with respect to EMS care, the members must investigate all medically related issues and perform any duties that are 
required to carry out the requirements of the ASA Plan as directed by the Board. The EMS Advisory Committee reports 

directly to the Board on all matters coming before the Committee. The Chairperson of the Committee is given the power 
and responsibility of Administering the ASA Plan and EMS Ordinance, as specified on page 15 of the ASA Plan, based upon 

the findings and determinations made by the EMS Advisory Committee. As stated on Page 17 of the ASA Plan: 

"COORDINATION -ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN: (1) The Morrow County ASA Plan shall be administered by the EMS 
Advisory Committee, as representatives of the Board." 

NOW, THEREFORE, after hearing full argument and requests made on behalf of the Boardman Fire and Rescue District, it 
is hereby DETERMINED, that the ASA Plan EMS Advisory Committee has voted to REJECT the request from Boardman Fire 
and Rescue District to Amend the Plan and the County/Health District's longstanding policy and procedure of dispatching 

the Fire District to Fire and Motor Vehicle Accident calls only, unless specifically requested by the Health District/Morrow 

County Ambulance. Considerations of the following details were made by the Committee and given appropriate weight: 

(1) Oregon law specifically prohibits what is known as "call-jumping." OAR 222-265-0083(15). It has been

determined by the State of Oregon that sending multiple providers to a single call presents risks to the public

and patients that do not outweigh the benefit of that action. This includes: (a) Traffic risks to the public at large

associated with multiple providers coming in "hot" to a single scene and, potentially, exceeding speed limits and
other traffic laws in an effort to attend the scene first; (2) Creating conflicts and disputes between care providers

on scene, lending to unnecessary delays in care; (3) Slowing the delivery of care given the above; (4) Having
multiple opposing treatment protocols in place with regard to patient care; (5) Splitting emergency resources

that results in waste of time, budget, and expense; (6) Delays in patient transport associated with the foregoing

and in failures to understand appropriate chain of command; (7) A review of Morrow County Ambulance
response times revealed that response times are all well within protocol; (8) Personnel changes have occurred at

Morrow County Ambulance that increase the number of available responders; (9) No other Fire District in
Morrow County operates in the fashion proposed by Boardman Fire District, nor has any done so in 70 years.

(2) Over the last year, the Boardman Fire District has demonstrated a failure to adhere to appropriate protocol and

procedure. This has been demonstrated by the following: (1) Failing to have an appropriate contract and
protocols in place with its medical director; (2) Failing to have a clear set of standing orders approved and
reviewed by a medical director; (3) Instructing the Sherriff's Department to ignore determinations of the Health

Pioneer Memorial 

Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

P -(541) 676-9133 

F -(541) 676-2901 

TDD -(541) 676-2908 

Pioneer Memorial 

Home Health & 

Hospice 

P -(541) 676-2946 

F-(541) 676-9017 

Pioneer Memorial 

Clinic 

P -(541) 676-5504 

F -(541) 676-9025 

Irrigon Medical 

Clinic 

P -(541) 922-5880 

F -(541) 922-5881 

lone Community 

Clinic 

P-(541) 422-7128 

F - (541) 422-7145 

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

Morrow County 

Ambulance 

P - (541) 676-9133 

F - (541) 676-2901 



� Jr MORROW COUNTY

-Ir ,. ��!t' Hf?.!�:.�1cr 

PO BOX9 

Heppner OR 97836 
Tel: 541-676-9133 

Toll Free: 1-800-737-4113 
www. morrowcou n tyhealthd istrict. org 

District and the procedures laid out in the ASA Plan with regard to dispatch; (4) Engaging in multiple instances of 

patient confidentiality violations in public forums; (5) Multiple instances of Fire District crew disparaging Health 

District ambulance crew in public, at incident scenes, and elsewhere; (6) Multiple instances of Fire District crew 

unlawfully removing medications and supplies from Morrow County vehicles and facility without Health District 

authority; (7) Failing to engage in appropriate transfer of patient care when indicated; (8) Engaging in a public 

campaign to undermine the reputation of the Morrow County Ambulance personnel and the Board by posting 

false information in social media and attempting to create a false narrative that the District was slow in 

responding to calls or provided otherwise substandard care with respect to arrival and transports, or that the 

public was at risk if the Fire District was prohibited from responding to every EMS call. 

(3) One of the overriding reasons for the Fire District's requested amendment is funding-based, rather than safety

based. This is not an appropriate reason to change protocol and the ASA Plan.

Based upon these considerations and conclusions, it is the medical and public safety determination of the EMS Advisory 

Committee, the QA Subcommittee and the Morrow County Health District that the Morrow County ASA Plan remain 

unchanged and the Morrow County Sherriff's Department shall discontinue the practice of dispatching Boardman Fire 

and Rescue to all calls and will resume the practice of dispatching Boardman Fire and Rescue to Fire and Motor Vehicle 

Accident calls only, unless specifically requested by the Health District/Morrow County Ambulance. Continued activities 

in opposition to this arrangement are inappropriate and in violation of the ASA Plan; the EMS Advisory Committee's 

determination; and the Health District's responsibility to administer the Plan in a way that ensures the citizens of Morrow 

County have access to an efficient, safe and effective ambulance service, in spite of this being a remote and sparsely 

populated area. 

--

Donna Sherman, Morrow County EMS Advisory Committee Chair 

Pioneer Memorial 

Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

P -(541) 676-9133 

F -(541) 676-2901 

TDD -(541) 676-2908 

County Health District Board Chair 

Pioneer Memorial 

Home Health & 

Hospice 

P -(541) 676-2946 

F -(541) 676-9017 

Pioneer Memorial 

Clinic 

P -(541) 676-5504 

F -(541) 676-9025 

Irrigon Medical 

Clinic 

P -(541) 922-5880 

F -(541) 922-5881 

lone Community 

Clinic 

P -(541) 422-7128 

F -(541) 422-7145 

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

Date 

Date 

Morrow County 

Ambulance 

P -(541) 676-9133 

F -(541) 676-2901 



 

  
Pioneer Memorial 
Hospital & Nursing 

Facility 

Pioneer Memorial 
Home Health & 

Hospice 

Pioneer Memorial 
Clinic 

Irrigon Medical 
Clinic 

Ione Community 
Clinic 

Morrow County 
Ambulance 

P – (541) 676-9133 P – (541) 676-2946 P – (541) 676-5504  P – (541) 922-5880 P – (541) 422-7128 P – (541) 676-9133 
F – (541) 676-2901 F – (541) 676-9017 F – (541) 676-9025  F – (541) 922-5881 F – (541) 422-7145 F – (541) 676-2901 
TDD – (541) 676-2908      

MCHD is An Equal Opportunity Provider and Employer 

 

 
07-26-22 
 
Boardman Fire Rescue District 
300 SW Wilson Ln 
Boardman, OR 97818 
 
This NOTICE is sent to you pursuant to the Morrow County Ambulance Service Area Plan (ASA Plan) guidelines relating to 
matters involving Quality Assurance and Patient Safety. Enclosed is a copy of the Morrow County Health District (MCHD) 
DETERMINATION of April 27, 2022.  
 
The purpose of this notice is to inform you that the Boardman Fire & Rescue District (BFRD) has been operating outside 
of the guidelines set out in this Determination and the ASA Plan with respect to how calls for medical services are to be 
responded to safely and in keeping with the goals and responsibilities maintained by the Morrow County Health District 
and the EMS Advisory Committee in administering the ASA Plan. Those BFRD activities include the following:  
 
(1) Operating emergency vehicles at unsafe speeds in an effort to race MCHD ambulances to non-emergency medical 
calls; (2) Obstructing access of MCHD ambulance vehicles and personnel at emergency and non-emergency medical 
scenes; (3) Making unprofessional and derogatory statements to patients and in the community relating to MCHD 
ambulance personnel medical care; (4) Violating patient confidentiality by making comments about specific calls when 
no longer on scene and rendering care; (5) Continuing to insist that the Morrow County Sheriff’s Office dispatch the 
BFRD to all medical calls, despite the Determination made by the MCHD and EMS Advisory Committee that this 
procedure is unsafe; and (6) Continuing to ignore and violate the ASA Plan and Determination made by the MCHD and 
EMS Advisory Committee that this new dispatch procedure is unsafe by continually responding to all calls, including non-
emergency calls, resulting in the violations described above. 
  
All ambulance services in Morrow County are specifically governed under the enclosed ASA Plan, which was 
unanimously approved by the County Commissioners and the State of Oregon Health Authority. The Morrow County 
Health District was assigned the responsibility of monitoring the ASA Plan, administering it through the EMS Advisory 
Committee and assuring county emergency medical services are appropriately utilized on a county-wide basis. 
  
Following a public meeting, held on March 31, 2022, the MCHD entered the enclosed Determination, informing the 
BFRD that its new method of responding to all medical calls of any kind should cease.  In spite of this Determination, 
following a review of all patient safety issues brought to light by these recent changes to dispatch procedures involving 
BFRD, the BFRD has ignored the MCHD Determination and continued following its new practice of responding to all 
medical calls of any kind. 
  
As a result, the Quality Assurance Subcommittee (QA Subcommittee) procedures under the ASA Plan were triggered, 
and the matter was reviewed.  The BFRD was given multiple opportunities to present evidence and respond to these 
allegations. The QA Subcommittee is responsible for investigating violations of the ASA Plan. When the QA 
Subcommittee identifies a problem involving compliance with the ASA Plan or conduct that fails to conform to 
established protocols, the QA Subcommittee shall: (1) Request any additional information necessary to establish 
whether a violation or failure occurred; (2) Contact the non-compliant organization in writing and identify the specific 



facts, laws, rules or protocols concerning the violation or failure to conform; and (3) Request that within thirty (30) days 
the non-compliant organization submit a written response and a plan to correct the deficiencies. 
  
Please consider this NOTICE the ASA Plan QA Subcommittee’s request for your written response and plan to address 
these deficiencies within 30 days from the date of this Notice.  Upon receipt of these materials, the QA Subcommittee 
will review the BFRD’s response and written plan for resolution of the deficiency. Upon findings of compliance, the QA 
Subcommittee will monitor the plan for resolution of the deficiencies. Upon findings of non-compliance, the QA 
Subcommittee and the MCHD will need to take further action as described in the ASA Plan. 
  
Thank you for your cooperation. Feel free to forward any questions or concerns you may have. 

 


	Agenda 08-03-2022 V3
	Agenda Packet 8-3-2022 V2
	2 July 27, 2022 Rough Draft Minutes V3
	3 Executive Session 7-27-2022
	4 7-27-2022 Work Session Minutes - Draft
	5 Wood Hill Homes Replat
	6 5th Amendment to OHA Contract
	7 Discontinue Distribution to Schools and Fair
	8 SO Report
	9 Assossor Report
	10 Merkley Announcement
	11 Federal Funding for Nitrate Projects
	12 Nitrate Emergency Update

	Letter from MCHD to BOC regarding ASA - 07-30-22
	Letter from MCHD to BOC - 07-30-22
	Attachment for Letter to BOC - 07-30-22
	BFRD Application
	Morrow County ASA Plan Certification
	Morrow County ASA Plan Signed Letter - 2022
	ASA PLAN & ATTACHMENTS - Current
	ASA PLAN - Current
	ASA PLAN - ATTACHMENTS
	Morrow County ASA Plan Certification

	EMS Advisory Committee DETERMINATION - 2022
	Image 1
	Image 2
	Image 3

	Letter from EMS Advisory Committee to BFRD - 07-26-22





